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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 

ROSALIS OQUENDO-LOPEZ,  : 

 Plaintiff,    : 

      : 

v.      : No. 3:17cv1933  (DJS) 

      : 

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE  : 

TOWN OF CHESHIRE, ET AL.,  : 

 Defendants.    : 

    

 

RULING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 

 The plaintiff, Rosalis Oquendo-Lopez (“Oquendo-Lopez”), brings this action against the 

defendants, Board of Education of the Town of Cheshire (“the Board”) and Russell M. Hinckley 

(“Hinckley”), as the result of incidents involving her minor son (“the plaintiff’s son” or “the 

Student”) at his school. The plaintiff alleges that the Board discriminated and retaliated against 

her son in violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”). She also 

raises a claim of common law battery against Hinckley. 

 The defendants have moved for summary judgment on all claims against them. For the 

reasons stated below, the defendants’ motion is denied. 

I. FACTS 

 There are certain facts as to which the parties have provided conflicting evidence. The 

Court reminds the parties that “[a]ssessments of credibility and choices between conflicting 

versions of the events are matters for the jury, not for the court on summary judgment.” Rule v. 

Brine, Inc., 85 F.3d 1002, 1011 (2d Cir. 1996).  For purposes of ruling on a motion for summary 

judgment “the non-movant [Oquendo-Lopez] will have h[er] allegations taken as true, and will 

receive the benefit of the doubt when h[er] assertions conflict with those of the movant.” 

Samuels v. Mockry, 77 F.3d 34, 36 (2d Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
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 The plaintiff’s son began attending Doolittle Elementary School (“Doolittle”) in 

Cheshire, Connecticut in the first grade and was in the third grade at Doolittle during the 2016-

2017 school year. The Student was diagnosed with Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder at the 

age of four and was further diagnosed with Disruptive Mood Dysregulation Disorder1 and 

anxiety while in the third grade. The Student had a “504 Plan”2 at all relevant times and from 

January through June 2017 was receiving psychiatric services based on the “IICAPS model”3 

provided by two clinicians from Wellmore Behavioral Health, Tara Zaretsky and Erica Vaz. 

 Hinckley was the principal of Doolittle at all times relevant to this action. 

 On April 17, 2017, the Student bit another child’s arm at school while the children were 

at lunch. A cafeteria aide then brought the Student to Hinckley’s office. When he entered 

Hinckley’s office, the Student pushed over a chair. He then went to a corner, sat down, and cried. 

Hinckley told the Student to pick up the chair, but the Student refused to do so. Hinckley then 

grabbed the Student’s left arm, dragged him over to the chair, and told him to pick it up. At that 

point the Student picked up the chair, returned to the corner and continued to cry. The Student 

                                                           
1 “Disruptive mood dysregulation disorder (DMDD) is a childhood condition of extreme 

irritability, anger, and frequent, intense temper outbursts.” 

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/disruptive-mood-dysregulation-disorder-

dmdd/disruptive-mood-dysregulation-disorder.shtml 
2 “Schools may have to make special accommodations . . . to allow students with disabilities to 

have access to the full range of programs and activities available to nondisabled students. These 

are documented under ‘accommodations’ in the 504 plan designed for each student according to 

individual need.” https://portal.ct.gov/SDE/Publications/Assistive-Technology-Guidelines-

Section-1-For-Ages-3-21/Laws-and-Policies 
3 “Intensive In-Home Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Services (IICAPS) helps children and 

families in crisis through home-based individual and family therapy, 24-hour crisis response, 

parent guidance, school consultations, and other methods. . . . A treatment plan tailored to the 

child and family is developed and implemented by a two person team of mental health 

professionals.” https://wellmore.org/child-adolescent-services/intensive-home-based-services/ 
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did not touch any other furniture in the office. When he returned home that day, the Student saw 

that his arm was bruised and his shirtsleeve was torn. The Student showed his bruised arm and 

torn shirt to his mother’s partner, Christopher Simon (“Simon”).  

  Oquendo-Lopez and Simon met with Hinckley on April 18, 2017 to discuss what had 

happened with the Student the previous day. Hinckley initially said he may have put his hand on 

the Student’s shoulder. Simon, who is a police officer, told Hinckley that the Student’s bruise 

marks and torn shirt were consistent with someone grabbing and pulling the Student. Hinckley 

then said he may have grabbed the Student because he had been throwing things around in 

Hinckley’s office. Hinckley ultimately admitted he had “grabbed” the Student and said he “did 

not mean to hurt” him. (Doc. # 28-1, at 8, ¶¶ 12, 13). Oquendo-Lopez asked Hinckley to 

document the incident which he subsequently did in a letter she received on April 24, 2017. In 

his letter, Hinckley stated that when the Student entered his office on April 17 “he began to 

knock over chairs and pick them up to throw them.” (Doc. # 27-4, at 7). He went on to indicate 

that he “did put my hand on [the Student’s] arm/shoulder to prevent him from throwing the chair. 

He calmed down quickly and expressed regret for his actions.” (Id.).  

 Oquendo-Lopez, along with Simon and one of the Wellmore clinicians, subsequently met 

with Assistant Superintendent Shawn Parkhurst (“Parkhurst”) to discuss the April 17, 2017 

incident. After that meeting, Parkhurst instructed Hinckley to send a revised letter documenting 

the April 17 incident to Oquendo-Lopez and Simon. Hinckley sent a second letter, dated May 11, 

2017, in which he indicated his purpose was to clarify the original letter.  In the second letter  

Hinckley stated that when the Student entered his office on April 17 “he was very agitated and 

proceeded to knock over chairs and pick them up.” (Doc. # 27-4, at 9). He went on to state that 

he had received training to handle situations like that and had “escorted [the Student] using a 
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‘basic guide along’ to move him to a safe location and to prevent him from knocking over other 

chairs or throwing them.” (Id.). According to Hinckley the Student’s actions and his response 

“lasted only a few seconds.” (Id.). 

 The parties agree that three other incidents involving the Student occurred at Doolittle in 

2017- one on April 19, one on May 25, and one on June 1. Oquendo-Lopez alleges that on April 

19, 2017, another child in her son’s class asked the Student to stop playing with him and, in front 

of his classmates, the boys’ teacher said to the Student: “This is why you have no friends.” (Doc. 

# 1, at 6, ¶ 33). According to Oquendo-Lopez, the teacher’s comment triggered an emotional 

reaction in her son and he hit another student.   

 Oquendo-Lopez further alleges that on May 25, 2017, the following incident took place:  

The Student’s teacher instructed her son and the rest of his class to join her on the carpet. When 

her son told the teacher he first wanted to finish his work, the teacher took the paper the Student 

had been working on and ripped it up. She then told the Student he could join the rest of the class 

on the carpet. The Student started crying and told the teacher he did not have to listen to her. At 

that point the teacher told the Student to get out. The Student left his classroom and went to the 

office of the school psychologist. 

 Oquendo-Lopez also alleges that the following took place on June 1, 2017:   The 

Student’s two Wellmore clinicians came to Doolittle to observe him. When the Student’s class 

lined up to come back inside the building after lunch, the Student nudged the girl standing next 

to him after she made a joke. One of the aides at Doolittle approached the Student and told him 

he was “in trouble.” (Doc. # 1, at 7, ¶ 48). The son began to cry and the two clinicians tried to 

talk to him. The aide then asked the clinicians why there were “coddling” the Student. (Id. at 8, ¶ 
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50).  She also stated that the Student was “just a bad kid” and that “[t]his is what he does every 

time - - he manipulates.” (Id.).  

II. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a), “[t]he court shall grant summary judgment if the 

movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled 

to judgment as a matter of law.”  This is appropriate when “the nonmoving party has failed to 

make a sufficient showing on an essential element of her case with respect to which she has the 

burden of proof.”  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986).  But the moving party still 

“has the burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of fact.”  Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, 

Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 256 (1986).  “A genuine issue of material fact is one that ‘might affect the 

outcome of the suit under the governing law’ and as to which ‘a reasonable jury could return a 

verdict for the nonmoving party.’”  Noll v. IBM, 787 F.3d 89, 94 (2d Cir. 2015) (quoting 

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248 (1986)). 

“[I]n assessing the record to determine whether there is a genuine issue as to any material 

fact, the court is required to resolve all ambiguities and draw all factual inferences in favor of the 

party against whom summary judgment is sought.”  Chambers v. TRM Copy Centers Corp., 43 

F.3d 29, 36 (2d Cir. 1994).  “‘If there is any evidence in the record that could reasonably support 

a jury’s verdict for the nonmoving party, summary judgment must be denied.’”  Kelly v. 

Honeywell International, Inc., 233 F. Supp. 3d 302, 308 (D. Conn. 2017) (quoting American 

Home Assurance Co. v. Hapag Lloyd Container Linie, GmbH, 446 F.3d 313, 315 (2d Cir. 

2006)). 
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III. DISCUSSION 

Oquendo-Lopez raises claims of discrimination and retaliation under Section 504 against 

the Board and a claim of battery against Hinckley. The defendants seek summary judgment as to 

all three claims and Oquendo-Lopez opposes the defendants’ motion on all claims. 

A. Section 504 Claims 

The defendants’ motion for summary judgment as it relates to the Section 504 claims is 

based entirely on their argument that the plaintiff was required to exhaust administrative remedies 

available under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”) before bringing these 

claims to court. According to the defendants, “a fair reading of the Complaint makes it clear that 

the claims of discrimination and retaliation are based upon” an “alleged denial of a free appropriate 

public education.” (Doc. # 27-1, at 6).  Oquendo-Lopez responds that she seeks “relief from 

discrimination and retaliation” and not “relief from denial of a FAPE [free appropriate public 

education].” (Doc. # 28, at 8).  

Section 504 provides in part that: “No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in 

the United States . . . shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the 

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 

activity receiving Federal financial assistance . . . .”  29 U.S.C. § 794(a). See Smith v. Robinson, 

468 U.S. 992, 1017 (1984) (Section 504 “protects handicapped persons of all ages from 

discrimination in a variety of programs and activities receiving federal financial assistance”). The 

defendants have not disputed that the Student was an “otherwise qualified individual with a 

disability” or that the Board’s operation of Doolittle constituted a “program or activity  receiving 

Federal financial assistance.” “A plaintiff aggrieved by a violation of [Section 504] may seek all 

remedies available under Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq.), 
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including monetary damages.” Loeffler v. Staten Island University Hospital, 582 F.3d 268, 275 

(2d Cir. 2009).   

“The IDEA requires States receiving federal funds to provide ‘all children with disabilities’ 

with a FAPE.” P. v. West Hartford Board of Education, 885 F.3d 735, 741 (2d Cir. 2018) (quoting 

20 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(1)(A)). A child’s individualized education program (IEP), which is “the result 

of collaborations between parents, educators, and representatives of the school district,”  is “the 

centerpiece of the IDEA’s education delivery system for disabled children.” Id. (internal quotation 

marks and alteration omitted). The IDEA requires states to offer various procedural safeguards to 

parents of disabled students and further imposes a requirement that these remedies be exhausted 

before a federal action to enforce rights provided by the IDEA may be initiated. See Polera v. 

Board of Education, 288 F.3d 478, 483 (2d Cir. 2002). “Failure to exhaust the administrative 

remedies deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction.” Cave v. East Meadow Union Free 

School District, 514 F.3d 240, 245 (2d Cir. 2008). Money damages are not available in an action 

brought pursuant to the IDEA. See Polera, 288 F.3d at 486.  

“The IDEA is intended to remedy . . . the . . . claim . . . that a school district failed to 

provide [a student] with appropriate educational services.” Id. at 488. In Polera, the Second 

Circuit considered a Sixth Circuit case, Covington v. Knox County School System, 205 F.3d 912 

(6th Cir. 2000), in which the plaintiff alleged that her son, who was a student in the school 

system, had been locked inside a small, dark cell for long periods of time as a disciplinary 

measure. Although the Sixth Circuit held that the exhaustion requirement did not apply in 

Covington on the basis of futility, the Second Circuit also noted that “damages would have been 

the only adequate remedy even had he sought immediate relief at the time of the wrongdoing. 

Nothing could ‘undo’ the harm that he had suffered.” Polera, 288 F.3d at 490.  
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In 1984 the Supreme Court, addressing the relationship between Section 504 and the IDEA, 

held that “there is no doubt that the remedies, rights, and procedures Congress set out in the [IDEA] 

are the ones it intended to apply to a handicapped child’s claim to a free appropriate public 

education. We are satisfied that Congress did not intend a handicapped child to be able to 

circumvent the requirements or supplement the remedies of the [IDEA] by resort to the general 

antidiscrimination provision of § 504.” Smith v. Robinson, 468 U.S. 992, 1019 (1984). In response 

to the Supreme Court’s decision in Smith, Congress enacted the Handicapped Children’s 

Protection Act of 1986, 100 Stat. 796, which included the following provisions: 

Nothing in [the IDEA] shall be construed to restrict or limit the rights, procedures, 

and remedies available under the Constitution, . . . [Section 504], or other Federal laws 

protecting the rights of children with disabilities, except that before the filing of a civil 

action under such laws seeking relief that is also available under [the IDEA],  

the procedures under [the IDEA] shall be exhausted to the same extent as would 

be required had the action been brought under [the IDEA]. 

 

20 U.S.C. § 1415(l). 

 Following the enactment of the Handicapped Children’s Protection Act of 1986, the 

Supreme Court revisited the relationship between Section 504 and the IDEA in Fry v. Napoleon 

Community Schools, 137 S. Ct. 743 (2017). The plaintiffs in Fry filed an action in federal court 

alleging that school officials and the local school district violated the American with Disabilities 

Act and Section 504 when they refused to allow the plaintiffs’ daughter’s service dog to join her 

in her kindergarten class and assist her with various tasks as the dog had been trained to do. The 

trial court dismissed the action for the reason that the plaintiffs had not exhausted the procedures 

available under the IDEA. The Sixth Circuit affirmed the dismissal on the basis that the harms 

complained of by the plaintiffs “were generally educational” in nature. Id. at 752 (internal 

quotation marks omitted). 
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 Noting that 20 U.S.C. § 1415(l) requires exhaustion under the IDEA before bringing an 

action under Section 504 only when that action seeks relief also available under the IDEA, the 

Supreme Court held that “to meet that statutory standard, a suit must seek relief for the denial of a 

FAPE, because that is the only ‘relief’ the IDEA makes ‘available.’” Id. The Court recognized that 

a plaintiff “cannot escape § 1415(l) merely by bringing her suit under a statute other than the IDEA 

. . . .” Id. at 754. At the same time, however, the Court also recognized that “[a] school’s conduct 

toward . . . a child . . . might injure her in ways unrelated to a FAPE, which are addressed in statutes 

other than the IDEA. A complaint seeking redress for those other harms, independent of any FAPE 

denial, is not subject to § 1415(l)’s exhaustion rule . . . .” Id. at 754-55. 

 The Supreme Court concluded that for the purpose of determining whether or not a plaintiff 

seeks relief for the denial of a FAPE, a reviewing court must examine the substance of the 

plaintiff’s complaint. “That inquiry makes central the plaintiff’s own claims . . . . A court deciding 

whether § 1415(l) applies must therefore examine whether a plaintiff’s complaint - - the principal 

instrument by which she describes her case - - seeks relief for the denial of an appropriate 

education.” Id. at 755. “In short, the IDEA guarantees individually tailored educational services, 

while . . . § 504 promise[s] non-discriminatory access to public institutions. That is not to deny 

some overlap in coverage . . . . But still, the statutory differences just discussed mean that a 

complaint brought under . . . § 504 might instead seek relief for simple discrimination, irrespective 

of the IDEA’s FAPE obligation.” Id. at 576.  

The Court finds that the gravamen of Oquendo-Lopez’s Complaint is a claim of 

disability-based discrimination rather than a claim of the denial of an appropriate education. The 

substance of Oquendo-Lopez’s Complaint concerns the treatment of her son by the principal and 

other school employees. These claims “do not implicate whether [the Student] was properly 
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diagnosed as needing special education services, or the adequacy of the education provided. In 

that sense, they are unlike claims found to require exhaustion in other cases.” Doe. v. Torrington 

Board of Education, No. 3:15-cv-00452 (MPS), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 159091, at *12 (D. 

Conn. Nov. 17, 2016). See also S.G. v. Success Academy Charter Schools, Inc., No. 18 Civ. 2484 

(KPF), 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 45866, at *27 (S.D.N.Y. March 20, 2019) (A claim that sought 

“protection from what [the plaintiffs] claim to be abusive disciplinary measures on the part of 

Defendants” was cognizable as a separate claim for intentional discrimination under §504 and 

was not subject to the IDEA exhaustion requirement); Muskrat v. Deer Creek Public Schools, 

715 F.3d 775, 785 (10th Cir. 2013) (“Here, the [plaintiffs] have alleged three scattered instances 

of potential battery. All three instances appear to have resulted from simple frustration with [the 

plaintiffs’ disabled son] rather than any legitimate disciplinary goal. Requiring parents to raise 

such claims through an IDEA administrative hearing makes little sense.”).   

 “One clue to whether the gravamen of a complaint against a school concerns the denial of 

a FAPE, or instead addresses disability-based discrimination, can come from asking a pair of 

hypothetical questions.” Fry, 137 S. Ct. at 756. The first question is “could the plaintiff have 

brought essentially the same claim if the alleged conduct had occurred at a public facility that was 

not a school - - say, a public theater or library?” Id. The second hypothetical question is “could an 

adult at the school - - say, an employee or visitor - - have pressed essentially the same grievance?” 

Id.  

 With respect to Oquendo-Lopez’s Complaint, the Court finds that the answer to both 

hypothetical questions is yes. Oquendo-Lopez alleges that the principal grabbed her son’s arm and 

dragged him over to a chair with force sufficient to bruise his arm and tear his shirt. She further 

alleges that other school employees ridiculed her son, tore up a paper he was working on, and 
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made disparaging remarks about him to others in his presence.  Oquendo-Lopez would have a 

claim against a public facility other than a school for similar conduct as would a disabled  adult 

subjected to such conduct. See Lawton v. Success Academy Charter Schools, Inc., 323 F. Supp. 3d 

353, 362 (E.D.N.Y. 2018)  (“These allegations extend far beyond simple denial of a FAPE. . . . 

The disabled children would have a claim against a public library that placed them on a list of 

excluded patrons, used strict disciplinary rules to remove them on a daily basis, and threatened to 

call the police when faced with complaints about discrimination. So would disabled adults.”). 

 Since the gravamen of Oquendo-Lopez’s Complaint does not concern the denial of a 

FAPE, the IDEA exhaustion requirement does not apply to her Complaint. Because the defendants’ 

motion for summary judgment as to the §504 claims is based entirely on their argument that IDEA 

exhaustion was required, their motion is denied as to the §504 claims.  

B. Battery 

 Oquendo-Lopez raises a claim of battery against Hinckley. She alleges that Hinckley  

grabbed her son and dragged him over to the chair he had pushed over and that “the contact directly 

resulted in harm.” (Doc. # 1, at 9, ¶ 58). The defendants argue that the battery claim fails because 

“Mr. Hinckley did not act with the intent to cause a harmful or offensive contact, nor was the 

contact that Mr. Hinckley had with the Student harmful.” (Doc. # 27-1, at 11). They further contend 

that Hinckley “was acting in defense of himself and/or others when he put his hand on the Student’s 

arm/shoulder to move him to another area of the office.” (Id. at 12). Oquendo-Lopez argues in 

response that “from the evidence before it a jury can reasonably find [Hinckley] battered Plaintiff’s 

son.” (Doc. # 28, at 11).  

 “[L]iability for battery arises ‘if [a.] [a person] acts intending to cause a harmful or 

offensive contact with the person of the other or a third person, or an imminent apprehension of 
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such a contact, and [b.] a harmful contact with the person of the other directly or indirectly 

results.’” Simms v. Chaisson, 277 Conn. 319, 331 (2006) (quoting 1 Restatement (Second), Torts 

§ 13). Oquendo-Lopez alleges that Hinckley “wantonly and intentionally contacted [her] son.” 

(Doc. # 1, at 9, ¶ 58).  In Connecticut,  “‘an actionable . . . battery may be one committed willfully 

or voluntarily, and therefore intentionally; one done under circumstances showing a reckless 

disregard of consequences; or one committed negligently.’ . . . [N]evertheless, on the basis of the 

allegations in the plaintiff’s . . . complaint, [plaintiff’s battery claim] is properly construed as a 

claim for intentional . . . battery.” Maselli v. Regional School District #10, No. 

HHDCV156062402S, 2018 Conn. Super. LEXIS 1223, at  *17-18 (Conn. Super. Ct. June 11, 

2018) (quoting Markey v. Santangelo, 195 Conn. 76, 78 (1985)).   

 The defendants’ argument that summary judgment should be granted as to the battery claim 

is based on their version of the pertinent facts. They contend that when he entered Hinckley’s 

office, “the Student began to knock over chairs and pick them up to throw them around the room. 

Mr. Hinckley then put his hand on the Student’s arm/shoulder to move him to another location and 

to prevent him from throwing and/or knocking over more chairs.” (Doc. # 27-1, at 11). They also 

argue that “Mr. Hinckley’s act of taking the Student by the arm/shoulder to escort him to a different 

area of the office was a reasonable action in defense of himself and/or others, as he did so to 

prevent the Student from throwing more chairs and to move him to a safe location . . . .” (Id. at 12-

13). 

 There is a significant disparity between the defendant’s version of the facts pertaining to 

the battery claim and the plaintiff’s version of those facts. The plaintiff’s version, which is 

supported by the affidavits of the Student and Simon, is as follows: The Student pushed over a 

chair when he first entered Hinckley’s office. He then went to a corner, sat down, and cried. 
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Hinckley told the Student to pick up the chair and when the Student refused to do so, Hinckley 

grabbed the Student’s left arm, dragged him over to the chair, and told him to pick it up. The 

Student then picked up the chair, returned to the corner, and continued to cry. The Student did 

not touch any other furniture in the office. When he returned home that day, the Student saw that 

his arm was bruised and his shirtsleeve was torn. The Student showed his bruised arm and torn 

shirt to Simon. When Oquendo-Lopez and Simon met with Hinckley the following day, 

Hinckley ultimately admitted he had “grabbed” the Student and “did not mean to hurt” him. 

(Doc. # 28-1, at 8, ¶¶ 12, 13).  

 As the non-moving party, Oquendo-Lopez “will have [her] allegations taken as true, and 

will receive the benefit of the doubt when [her] assertions conflict with those of the movant.” 

Samuels v. Mockry, 77 F.3d 34, 36 (2d Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

“Assessments of credibility and choices between conflicting versions of the events are matters 

for the jury, not for the court on summary judgment.” Rule v. Brine, 85 F.3d 1002, 1011 (2d Cir. 

1996). The Court finds that Oquendo-Lopez has produced evidence in support of her version of 

the facts sufficient to permit a reasonable jury to find in her favor on the battery claim. 

Consequently, the defendants’ motion for summary judgment is denied as to the battery claim.  
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IV. CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated above, the defendants’ motion for summary judgment (doc. # 27)               

is DENIED.  

 

 

 

 

 

SO ORDERED this    9th       day of December,  2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     ____/s/ DJS_______________________________________                                                                                                                    

 Dominic J. Squatrito 

          United States District Judge  
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